## **RECEIVED**

06-25-2010

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2010AP895-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

KATHLEEN A. ULTSCH,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in Marquette County Circuit Court, the Honorable Richard O. Wright Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SHELLEY M. FITE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1060041

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8386 fites@opd.wi.gov

### **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. Did law enforcement officers enter the defendant's residence without a warrant or any other lawful justification, in violation of the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution?

The trial court answered: no.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted to clarify the application of the community caretaker doctrine to a warrantless entry into the home and to clarify the relationship between the community caretaker and the emergency aid doctrines. This court may find oral argument helpful in resolving the issue and, if so, the defendant would welcome the opportunity for argument.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The criminal complaint alleged that the defendant, Kathleen A. Ultsch, had operated a motor vehicle on a highway while under the influence of an intoxicant and with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration, 4<sup>th</sup> offense, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a) & 346.65(2)(am)4, and that she had violated the terms of misdemeanor bail, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a). (2:1-2). Ms. Ultsch filed a motion to suppress all evidence taken from her on January 1, 2008, the date of her arrest, on the ground that it was taken in violation of her rights under the federal and state constitutions. (6:1-4). The court held a hearing on the motion after which the parties filed briefs. (27; 8; 9). In a

written decision filed December 9, 2008, the court denied the motion. (10:1-2; App. 101-02).

Later, the state amended counts one and two from a 4<sup>th</sup> offense to a 5<sup>th</sup> offense. (11:1). The court held a preliminary hearing on the new charges. (29). Afterward, Ms. Ultsch filed a motion to reconsider the denial of the motion to suppress, based on additional facts elicited at the preliminary hearing. (15:1-7). The court held a hearing on the motion to reconsider at which it issued an oral ruling denying the motion. (31:13-14; App. 103-04).

Ultimately, Ms. Ultsch pleaded no contest to operating while intoxicated, 5<sup>th</sup> or 6<sup>th</sup> offense, and the court sentenced her to thirty months of probation with conditional jail time. (19). Ms. Ultsch filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief and a timely notice of appeal. (20; 24).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts relevant to the only issue presented to this court came in through the testimony of Marquette County Deputy Sheriff Jeffrey J. Tomlin, who testified at both the motion hearing and the preliminary hearing as follows:

On January 1, 2008, Deputy Tomlin was dispatched to East Montello Street in the City of Montello to investigate a car accident. (27:4). It was approximately 8:45 a.m. (29:9). A car had hit a brick building. (27:4). At the scene of the accident, Deputy Tomlin saw some vehicle parts and broken bricks and debris. (*Id.* at 5). The brick wall was caved in on one side such that the owners were worried about whether they would be able to open their shop. (*Id.* at 15).

Between thirty and forty-five minutes later, Deputy Tomlin found the vehicle that was involved in the accident on

a county road in Packwaukee at the foot of a driveway. (27:5, 10; 29:9). It was about two or three miles from the accident. (27:5). Deputy Tomlin was investigating the vehicle for a possible hit-and-run. (*Id.* at 10). The vehicle, a Dodge Durango, had damage to the bumper and engine compartment. (*Id.* at 5-6). At the motion hearing, Deputy Tomlin testified that the front end was severely damaged and "[p]robably totaled." (Id. at 5). He said that the front end was "pushed back into the motor." (Id. at 16). Deputy Tomlin could not recall whether the air bags had deployed or whether there was windshield damage. (Id. at 5,7,13). He believed that there had not been damage to the driver's or passenger's areas. (Id. at 13, 17). Further, he conceded that the vehicle had been driven at least two miles from the scene of the accident and that it was a large SUV. (*Id.* at 13, 17). He did not see blood or any other indication of injury in the car or on the ground. (*Id.* at 7, 13). However, he "felt that there was a strong possibility there could be an injury to whoever was driving, or any occupants." (Id. at 6).

At the preliminary hearing, Deputy Tomlin identified Exhibits 1, 2, and 3 as pictures of the Durango on the night in question. (29:10). He said that, "[b]y the looks of the brick wall I assumed that there was more major damage to the vehicle." (*Id.*). However, he confirmed that he did not see any damage to the vehicle on the night of January 1, 2008, other than the damage indicated in the pictures. (*Id.*). He admitted that on the night of the accident he had not gotten "really up close" to the vehicle. (*Id.*). The pictures of the Durango reveal that the air bags were not deployed, none of the windows or even headlights were broken, and there was no damage to the passenger compartment of the vehicle. (12; App. 105). The pictures reveal one dent to the left, front quarter-panel of the truck, around the tire. (*Id.*).

After discovering the Durango, law enforcement officers called a "wrecker" to tow it for impoundment. (27:7). While they were standing there, a man drove down the driveway adjacent to the vehicle and said that he was the property owner and that the vehicle belonged to a "friend or girlfriend." (Id. at 7). The man did not say that the driver was hurt or needed assistance. (Id. at 12). When asked the driver's name, the man said the officers should look up the license plate and find out for themselves, then he drove away from the house. (Id. at 7, 11). The man had driven down the driveway, which was steep and covered in heavy snow, in a four-wheel-drive vehicle. (Id. at 8). The officers could not drive their squad cars up the driveway due to the heavy snow. (Id.). The driveway was about a quarter of a mile long. (Id. Deputy Tomlin conceded that if someone was severely injured, it was "possible" that they would have had a hard time walking up the driveway. (*Id.* at 14).

Shortly after the interaction with the homeowner, two detectives arrived at the scene with a four-wheel-drive vehicle and Deputy Tomlin drove up to the house with them. (27:8). He knocked on the door and announced that he was from the Sheriff's Department. (*Id.*). No one answered. (*Id.*). Deputy Tomlin "tried the knob and the door was unlocked." (*Id.*). The homeowner had said that the driver "was at the residence and probably in bed or asleep," so Deputy Tomlin "went into the bedroom and found her." (*Id.*). The bedroom was in the far back of the house at the end of a long hallway. (*Id.* at 14). Deputy Tomlin found Ms. Ultsch in bed. (*Id.* at 9).

Upon finding Ms. Ultsch in the bedroom, Deputy Tomlin questioned her about the accident and smelled "the odor of an intoxicant" and believed her to be intoxicated. (29:5). He took her to the sheriff's department and conducted

field sobriety tests. (*Id.* at 5). Another deputy, Nancy Giese, administered a chemical breath test. (*Id.* at 7-8).

Deputy Tomlin testified that he entered the house to find the driver of the vehicle because he "wanted to make sure that she was okay." (27:8). He was concerned "[d]ue to the severe damage to the vehicle and the building that was struck by the vehicle, due to the fact that she walked through two feet of snow approximately a quarter of a mile to the residence. It was a cold day." (*Id.* at 9). He was concerned for her "well-being." (*Id.*).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Introduction

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution states: "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated . . ." The Wisconsin Constitution contains an identically-worded provision. Wis. Const. art. I § 11. In reviewing the legality of a search or seizure, this court considers the question as one of "constitutional fact." *Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 26, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568. It applies a deferential standard to the circuit court's findings of historical fact, relying on them unless they are "clearly erroneous." *Id.* at 27. However, it independently applies constitutional principals to the facts. *Id.* 

"The physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 28, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29 (quoting *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 748 (1984)). Therefore, "[i]t is a

basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable." *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980).

Any evidence found or statements taken inside of the home subsequent to an unlawful entry are "presumptively unlawful because of the warrantless entry itself." *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 18, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (citing *New York v. Harris*, 495 U.S. 14, 20 (1990)). Furthermore, any evidence collected subsequent to an unlawful entry is considered to be the "fruit of the poisonous tree" and also unlawful unless it was not discovered as a result of the "exploitation of the illegal entry or was sufficiently attenuated as to dissipate the taint caused by that entry." *State v. Trecroci*, 2001 WI App 126, ¶ 45, 246 Wis. 2d 261, 630 N.W.2d 555 (citing *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 204, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998)).

The prohibition on warrantless entries into the home is subject only to a few well-delineated exceptions which are "carefully and jealously drawn." *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 749-50 (1984). The state bears the burden of proving the existence of one of these exceptions. *See Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 20.

Here, Deputy Tomlin entered Ms. Ultsch's home without a warrant and subsequently discovered her identity and discovered facts that caused him to suspect that she had committed a crime and to seize and search her. The state has conceded that law enforcement did not have consent to enter Ms. Ultsch's home. (9:1). It has exclusively argued that the warrantless entry was justified because Deputy Tomlin was acting in his community caretaker function when he entered Ms. Ultsch's home to "check on the well being" of an

unknown person who had been involved in a car accident. (9:1; 27:3).<sup>1</sup>

II. The Community Caretaker Doctrine Did Not Justify the Warrantless Entry into Ms. Ultsch's Home.

#### A. Legal Standard and Introduction to Argument

The Wisconsin Courts have recognized an exception to some Fourth Amendment protections that is applicable when a law enforcement officer acts within the scope of a reasonable community caretaker function. *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 20-21, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. The community caretaker exception arose out of a United States Supreme Court case, *Cady v. Dombrowski*, in which the Court noted that officers "frequently investigate vehicle accidents in which there is no claim of criminal liability" and engage in functions that are divorced from the job of law enforcement. 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973).

The state supreme court has found that the community caretaker function justified police seizures in three cases. *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 20-21 (addressing the exception and discussing *State v. Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777, and *Bies v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 457, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977)). It recently set the standard as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ms. Ultsch attached to her motion to suppress evidence that she was living in the home that law enforcement entered at the time of the entry. (7:1). The state has never contested this fact or argued that Ms. Ultsch did not have a privacy interest in the home.

When a community caretaker function is asserted as justification for the seizure of a person, the trial court must determine: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the fourth amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual.

*Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 21 (quoting *State v. Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987)).

In the present case, Ms. Ultsch focuses on the second and third parts of the *Anderson/Kramer* standard. The application of the second part of the standard to this case is fairly straightforward. As to the third part of the standard, Ms. Ultsch contends that, in order to comply with federal constitutional law, this court must clarify that, as applied to a warrantless entry into a home, the balancing test must reveal an emergency requiring immediate aid. Regardless of whether this court clarifies the legal standard, the entry into Ms. Ultsch's home was unreasonable and therefore the circuit court erred in denying Ms. Ultsch's suppression motion.

B. The Officers Were Not Engaging in Bona Fide Community Caretaking Activity When They Entered Ms. Ultsch's Home.

Whether police conduct constituted bona fide community caretaking activity is dependent on "the totality of the circumstances as they existed at the time of the police conduct." *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30. The question is whether there was an "objectively reasonable basis" for the community caretaking activity. *Id.*, ¶ 36. The officer's subjective motivation for his actions "is a factor that may warrant consideration" but is not dispositive. *Id.*, ¶¶ 27, 36.

Given the objective nature of the test, whether an officer conducted a bona fide community caretaking activity is a question of law, not of historical fact, subject to de novo review. *See id.*, ¶¶ 36-39.

Here, there was no objectively reasonable basis for Deputy Tomlin's professed belief that that someone inside Ms. Ultsch's house had sustained injuries in an automobile accident. Deputy Tomlin had evidence that an unidentified woman inside the house had been in a car accident in which a large SUV had hit a brick wall at least an hour, and maybe much longer, before he approached the house.<sup>2</sup> (27:4, 13; 29:9). The accident dented the left, front quarter-panel of the vehicle around the tire, but it did not cause other damage, such as damage to the windshield or the passenger (12; App. 105; see also 27:5, 13, 17). compartment. Although the vehicle had airbags, the accident did not trigger deployment of the airbags. (27:6; 12; App. 105). After the accident, the vehicle was at least operational enough – and the driver uninjured enough – to drive two or three miles. (27:5, 13, 17). After parking the vehicle, the driver was apparently able to walk a quarter of a mile, uphill, through heavy snow. (Id. at 8, 11, 13). Deputy Tomlin did not see blood or other evidence of injury in or around the vehicle. (*Id.* at 7, 13). The driver's friend or boyfriend told officers that she was sleeping and did not suggest that she had sustained any injury or seem concerned about her. (Id. at 7, 11-12). When

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Deputy Tomlin first came upon the vehicle outside of the home about thirty or forty-five minutes after reporting to the scene of the accident. (29:9). He then waited for a four-wheel-drive vehicle to carry him up the driveway. (27:8). Therefore, the minimum time that had passed was likely an hour. However, the accident may have occurred long before 8:45 a.m., when Deputy Tomlin responded to the call about a damaged brick wall. (29:9).

Deputy Tomlin arrived at the house, he did not hear or see any signs of distress. (See id. at 8-9).

These facts did not provide a reasonable basis for concluding that the relatively minor car accident caused a significant injury. In the circuit court's written decision, it referred to the accident as "severe" and "likely injury causing" and said that the home owner's lack of concern with the driver "could only heighten the concern." (10:1; App. 101). However, the photographs of the vehicle belie the court's characterization of the accident as severe. (12; App. 105). Assuming that it is true, as the court stated at the reconsideration hearing, that "you do not need a big dent to have an injury, particularly a head injury," this does not make it objectively reasonable for a law enforcement officer to conclude that any car accident, no matter how minor, likely caused an injury significant enough to require his attention. (See 31:14; App. 104). Furthermore, it is not objectively reasonable for an officer to conclude that the fact that a friend does not report any injury and seems unconcerned indicates that there has in fact been an injury worthy of concern.

C. The Public Interests and Exigencies Present on the Night of Ms. Ultsch's Arrest Did Not Justify the Significant Intrusion on Her Privacy.

### 1. Wisconsin's Balancing Test

The third step of the *Anderson/Kramer* standard balances the public interest "furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree of and nature of the restriction upon the liberty interest of the citizen." *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 40. "The stronger the public need and the more minimal the intrusion upon an individual's liberty, the more likely the police conduct will be held to be reasonable." *Id.*,  $\P$  41.

The Wisconsin courts have identified four factors relevant to this balancing:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

*Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 41 (quoting *Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d at 169-70).

The third factor, whether an automobile has been involved, refers to searches and seizures of automobiles, which involve a citizen's "lesser expectation of privacy in an automobile." *Anderson*, 315 Wis. 2d at 169 n.4.<sup>3</sup>

2. This Court Needs to Clarify that the Balancing Test Requires an "Emergency" in Cases Involving Entry into a Home.

Under the Federal Constitution, regardless of whether an officer is acting in a community caretaker role, he may not enter a home without a warrant unless there are exigencies that make the "needs of law enforcement so compelling" that the entry is objectively reasonable. *Michigan v. Fisher*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 130 S. Ct. 546, 548 (2009); *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006). In a situation where the officer lacks probable cause and one of the related exigencies (hot pursuit or imminent destruction of evidence) he may only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The original community caretaker case, *Cady*, involved the seizure and search of an automobile that was abandoned on the highway and was a nuisance there. 413 U.S. at 442-43.

enter the home if there is an "emergency" requiring him to "render emergency assistance to an injured occupant or to protect an occupant from imminent injury." *Stuart*, 547 U.S. at 403; *see also Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 392 (1978). This is known as the "emergency aid doctrine." *Stuart*, 547 U.S. at 401; *see also State v. Larsen*, 2007 WI App 147, 302 Wis. 2d 718, 736 N.W.2d 211 (applying the doctrine in a Wisconsin case). The officer does not need poof that the injury is life threatening, but he must have an "objectively reasonable basis" for believing that someone is injured or likely to be injured such that they need "immediate aid." *Fisher*, 130 S. Ct. at 548-49.

The emergency aid doctrine is a subcategory of the community caretaker doctrine given that "rendering aid to persons in distress is one of the community caretaking functions of the police." *People v. Davis*, 497 N.W.2d 910, 920 (Mich. 1993); see also State v. Leutenegger, 2004 WI App 127, ¶ 7 n.2, ¶ 10 n.3, 275 Wis. 2d 512, 685 N.W.2d 536 (recognizing a relationship between the doctrines); State v. Ferguson, 2001 WI App 102, ¶ 17, 244 Wis. 2d 17, 629 N.W.2d 788 (same). Specifically, it is the subcategory of community caretaking cases that presents an exigency "so compelling" that it justifies physical entry into the home, see Fisher, 130 S. Ct. at 548, which is the "chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed," Welsh, 466 U.S. at 748. It is for this reason that many other courts have clarified that the community caretaking doctrine, absent circumstances that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Other courts, including this court, have alternatively used the terms "emergency exception" and "emergency doctrine." *See, e.g., Larsen*, 302 Wis. 2d 718, ¶ 15. For the sake of using consistent terms when discussing both federal and state case law, this brief refers to it as the "emergency aid doctrine."

satisfy the emergency aid standard, cannot justify entry into a home under the Fourth Amendment. *See, e.g., United States v. Bute*, 43 F.3d 531, 535 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994); *United States v. Erickson*, 991 F.2d 529, 531-33 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993); *United States v. Pichany*, 687 F.2d 204, 208-09 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1982); *State v. Ryon*, 108 P.3d 1032, 1043 (N.M. 2005); *Davis*, 497 N.W.2d at 920-21.

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