## **RECEIVED**

07-29-2010

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEALS

**DISTRICT IV** 

Case No. 2010AP895-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KATHLEEN A. ULTSCH, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARQUETTE COUNTY, RICHARD O. WRIGHT, JUDGE

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General** 

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

###

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE POLICE WERE PROPERLY ACTING AS COMMUNITY CARETAKERS WHEN THEY ENTERED ULTSCH'S HOUSE WITHOUT A WARRANT OR CONSENT TO DETERMINE WHETHER SHE NEEDED ASSISTANCE BECAUSE OF INJURIES SHE MIGHT HAVE RECEIVED IN A RECENT VEHICLE ACCIDENT.

The police may enter a residence without a warrant or consent when they are properly exercising their community caretaking function. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶¶ 13-27, \_\_ Wis. 2d. \_\_, \_\_ N.W.2d \_\_, 2010 WL 2773583 (July 15, 2010).

The police act as community caretakers when they perform numerous tasks that are an important part of their police role primarily intended to assist members of the public and maintain peace, order and safety in the community rather than to detect, investigate or acquire evidence of crime. *See Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶¶ 18, 20; *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶ 30-32, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; *State v. Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 166-67, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987). *See also* 3 Wayne R. LaFave, SEARCH AND SEIZURE, § 6.6(a) (4th ed. 2004) (listing some of many non-criminal situations in which warrantless entry to home permitted).

This broad community caretaking function must be distinguished from the more narrow emergency exception to the warrant requirement, *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶ 26, n.8, which is part of the exigent circumstances rule. *State v. Leutenegger*, 2004 WI App 127, ¶¶ 6-9 & n.2, 275 Wis. 2d 512, 685 N.W.2d 536. Although the police may act as community caretakers when responding to an emergency, no emergency is necessary to properly act as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *Pinkard* was decided three weeks after Ultsch filed her brief in this Court.

community caretaker. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583,  $\P$  26, n.8.<sup>2</sup>

The state has the burden to prove that a warrantless, non-consensual entry into a home was an objectively reasonable exercise of the community caretaking function under the totality of the circumstances. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶¶ 20, 29, 31; *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶¶ 30, 36.

To assess whether the entry was permitted, a court should consider: (1) whether there was an entry into a residential unit without a warrant or consent, (2) whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaking function when they entered, and (3) whether the entry was reasonable because the community's interest in the intrusion outweighed the resident's interest in privacy. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶¶ 29-30. *See Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 21; *Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d at 169.

In weighing these competing interests, the court should consider: (1) the need for making an immediate entry including the exigencies of the situation, (2) the nature of the entry including the time, location and degree of overt authority or force used, and (3) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the entry. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶¶ 41-42. *See Kramer*, 315

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The United States Supreme Court has not announced a different rule. Although that Court has stated that the police may enter a home without a warrant to render emergency assistance, it has made clear that this is just one circumstance in which a warrantless entry may be made. *Michigan v. Fisher*, 130 S. Ct. 546, 548 (2009); *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006). The Supreme Court has never held that an emergency is the only situation in which a warrantless home entry is permitted. And it has never considered whether the community caretaking doctrine may justify a warrantless entry in circumstances that may not qualify as an emergency. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶98 (Bradley, J., dissenting). Of course, decisions of lower federal courts are not binding on Wisconsin courts. *State v. Mechtel*, 176 Wis. 2d 87, 94, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993).

Wis. 2d 414,  $\P$  41. The greater the need for the entry and the less invasive it is, the more likely the actions of the police will be reasonable. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583,  $\P$  41; *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414,  $\P$  41.

In short, the question is whether a warrantless entry into a home was made in the exercise of a bona fide community caretaking function, and if so, whether that function was reasonably exercised, thereby permitting the seizure of evidence in plain view. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶ 63.

A. The Police Had Reason To Believe They Needed To Enter Ultsch's House Immediately To Determine Whether A Person Had Been Injured And Needed Assistance.

Checking to see whether someone may be injured and in need of help is a bona fide community caretaker function, regardless of whether the police might also have some subjective law enforcement reason for the entry. *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶¶ 34, 40, 45, 48; *State v. Ziedonis*, 2005 WI App 249, ¶¶ 17, 29, 287 Wis. 2d 831, 707 N.W.2d 565 (citing *State v. Ferguson*, 2001 WI App 102, ¶ 22, 244 Wis. 2d 17, 629 N.W.2d 788). *See* LaFave, § 6.6(a) at 461.

In this case, the police entered the house where the defendant-appellant, Kathleen A. Ultsch, resided without a warrant or consent to determine whether the driver of a vehicle parked partially in the driveway might have been injured in an accident (27:4-10).

The police had an objectively reasonable basis for believing that someone in the house could be injured. They determined that the vehicle parked in the driveway had crashed into the brick wall of a building that morning (27:4-5). The wall was caved in (27:15). The vehicle that hit the wall had significant damage on the driver's side

front fender (12; 29:10). The fact that there was a front end impact between a moving vehicle and an immovable wall raised the possibility that the driver had been injured.

The problem is that it was unclear whether the driver might have been injured badly enough to need assistance. Some facts suggested that she was while others suggested she was not.

The driver left the scene of the accident without providing any identifying information as required by Wis. Stat. § 346.69 (2007-08) (27:5,10). This indicated that the driver was not incapacitated by the crash. But it also suggested that the driver could have left immediately to try to get assistance for physical injuries, or that she could have had a head injury that kept her from thinking clearly about what she was supposed to do in that situation.

Although the police did not find any blood, damage to the windshield or passenger compartment of the vehicle, or deployed airbags (12; 27:7,13), they could not rule out the possibility of an internal head injury from an impact that did not leave any external evidence. As the circuit court noted (31:14), it does not take much to cause a serious head injury. All that is needed is jarring or shaking of the brain hard enough to bounce it against the inside wall of the skull. <a href="http://www.webmd.com/fitness-exercise/head-injuries-causes-and-treatments">http://www.webmd.com/fitness-exercise/head-injuries-causes-and-treatments</a>. This can be caused by forceful contact between the head and some object, even something as soft as a soccer ball or someone else's head. *Id.* Moreover, even impacts elsewhere on the body can create enough force to jar the brain. *Id.* 

A male resident of the house came down the driveway while the police were at the street (27:7). He said the damaged vehicle belonged to his girlfriend who was in the house possibly asleep (27:7-8,11-12). The boyfriend did not mention anything about the driver being injured or needing assistance (27:12). But the boyfriend refused to tell the police anything besides the location of

the driver, not even the driver's name, before he drove off (27:7).

The boyfriend's statements and actions could have suggested that the driver was not injured and did not need assistance. Or it could have been that the boyfriend did not know or care whether the driver had been injured. The driver could have been unconscious because of a head injury instead of merely asleep. And the boyfriend was obviously angry, possibly because his girlfriend had been out on New Year's Eve with a different man (29:4-5). As the circuit court stated, the boyfriend's conduct would not necessarily satisfy an officer that the driver was okay (31:14).

The fact that the driver was in the house means she probably walked a quarter mile up a deeply snow covered driveway (27:11). But as we all know from the recent highly publicized case of actress Natasha Richardson, it can be some time before even very serious head injuries manifest themselves in unconsciousness or death, the injured person being ambulatory or lucid in the interval. See <a href="http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Natasha\_Richardson">http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Natasha\_Richardson</a>. In State v. Edmunds, 2008 WI App 33, ¶¶ 5, 11, 15, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590, this Court noted that there is currently a debate in the medical community whether a shaken baby can exhibit a significant lucid interval after receiving a traumatic brain injury.

When the police went up to the house they knocked on the door and announced their presence with no response (27:8). They found the door unlocked, opened it, and might have announced their presence again through the open doorway (27:8,14). Still no one responded (27:14). So either the driver was sleeping very soundly or she was unconscious.

At this point the police entered Ultsch's house (27:8,14).

These facts, ambiguous though they may be, show that the police could have reasonably believed they needed to enter Ultsch's house right away without waiting for a warrant or consent because she could have been the victim of a head or other injury sustained in an automobile accident which required medical help.

It has been said several times now that the police should not be forced to tell citizens who might need help, "Sorry. We can't help you. We need a warrant and can't get one." *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶ 33 (quoting *State v. Horngren*, 2000 WI App 177, ¶ 18, 238 Wis. 2d 347, 617 N.W.2d 508) (internal quotation marks omitted). *Accord Ziedonis*, 287 Wis. 2d 831, ¶ 15.

This statement echoes the one made in many investigative stop cases that police officers who lack the level of information necessary to make an arrest should not be required to simply shrug their shoulders and allow a crime to occur or a criminal to escape. *E.g., State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 59, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). Rather, police officers may act to resolve an ambiguous situation, notwithstanding the possibility of innocent explanations for the suspect's conduct, if a reasonable inference of criminal conduct can also be drawn. *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 60-61.

Likewise, police officers should not be required to let a possibly injured person suffer or die simply because there is some ambiguity in the information available to them about the person's condition. Rather, officers should be allowed to enter a residence to resolve the ambiguity as long as it is reasonable to infer that a person inside could be injured and in need of assistance.

"Principles of reasonableness demand that we ask ourselves whether the officers would have been derelict in their duty had they acted otherwise." *Pinkard*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶ 59 (internal quotation marks omitted). The fact that it turns out no one was injured does not matter. *Id*.

Indeed, in *Ziedonis*, this Court concluded that the police properly acted as community caretakers where "the officers did not know the physical condition of the person and reasonably concluded that the situation was an emergency." *Id.*, 287 Wis. 2d 831, ¶ 29.

Similarly, in *Pinkard*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that the police properly acted as community caretakers when entering a residence where the condition of two unresponsive people lying in a bed was unknown, and they could have possibly been unconscious due to a drug overdose. *See id.*, 2010 WL 2773583, ¶ 32.

Even the United States Supreme Court, in a case where the police "found signs of a recent injury, perhaps from a car accident," said that, "Officers do not need ironclad proof of 'a likely serious, life-threatening' injury to invoke the [narrower] emergency aid exception." *Michigan v. Fisher*, 130 S. Ct. 546, 548-49 (2009).

Thus, the police had sufficient objective reasons to believe they needed to enter Ultsch's house immediately without a warrant or consent to exercise a bona fide community caretaking function.

- B. The Police Exercised Their Community Caretaking Function In A Reasonable Way.
  - 1. The police made their entry into Ultsch's house in a reasonable manner.

The police entered Ultsch's house about 9:30 in the morning (29:9), generally considered a reasonable time to visit someone's residence.

The first thing the police did to try to gain entry was to knock on the door and announce their presence (27:8).

When they received no response, they tried the door and found that it was unlocked (27:8). They might have announced their presence again through the open door (27:14). But in any event, they did not break into the house using force but simply walked in through the door they opened normally (27:8,14).

And having been advised that the owner of the damaged vehicle was possibly asleep, they walked down a hall to the back bedroom where they found her (27:14).

Thus, the police did not engage in any forceful, violent, frightening or demanding actions which would be inconsistent with a purpose to help someone rather than investigate a crime.

2. There were no feasible alternatives to the actions taken by the police.

Ultsch suggests several theoretical alternatives to the actions taken by the police, Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 16, but none of them were feasible or effective in the circumstances of this case.

The police could not have obtained information about Ultsch's condition from her boyfriend. Even if the boyfriend knew what Ultsch's condition really was, he was not even willing to tell the police her name much less her condition.

Similarly, Ultsch's boyfriend would not have given the police permission to enter the house. By telling the police to check the damaged vehicle's registration to get his girlfriend's name, then driving off, the boyfriend showed unequivocally that he had no intent to cooperate with the police.

The police could have pounded on the door more, yelled more, made more noise, and called Ultsch on the phone, and none of it would have done any good. Ultsch

was not just snoozing late on a holiday morning, but was sleeping off a drunken binge. Even after being taken to the police station, Ultsch registered .141 and .134 on the two breathalyzer tests she took (29:18-19). Moreover, Ultsch was sleeping off her drunken binge in a bedroom in the back of the house at the end of a long hallway far from the front door (27:14).

The only thing the police could reasonably do to check to see whether Ultsch was injured and in need of help was to walk into her house and into the bedroom where her boyfriend said she appeared to be sleeping.

#### **CONCLUSION**

In this case, the police were properly exercising their community caretaking function when they entered Ultsch's house without a warrant or consent. The police had objective reasons to believe that Ultsch might have been injured in an automobile accident and needed assistance. Although there were facts that suggested the contrary, the police would have acted unreasonably by ignoring the facts that suggested she needed help. The police exercised their community caretaking function reasonably by entering the house peaceably, and taking the only course of action that was feasible under the circumstances.

Because the entry into Ultsch's house was proper under the community caretaking exception to the warrant requirement, there was no reason to suppress the evidence obtained by the police as a result of the entry. It is therefore respectfully submitted that the judgment convicting Ultsch of drunk driving should be affirmed.